
CITY OF CEDARBURG 
MEETING OF COMMON COUNCIL 
SEPTEMBER 10, 2018 – 7:00 P.M. 

 
A meeting of the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, will be held on 
Monday, September 10, 2018 at 7:00 p.m. at City Hall, W63 N645 Washington Avenue, 
Cedarburg, WI, in the second floor Council Chambers.  
            

AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER  - Mayor Mike O’Keefe 
 

2. MOMENT OF SILENCE 
 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
  
4.        ROLL CALL:  Present – 

 
 
  

Common Council – Mayor Mike O’Keefe, Council 
Members Dan von Bargen, Jack Arnett, Kristin Burkart, 
Rick Verhaalen, Garan Chivinski, Patricia Thome, and 
Rod Galbraith 
 

5. STATEMENT OF PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
6. APPROVAL OF MINUTES* - August 27, 2018 
 
7. COMMENTS AND SUGGESTIONS FROM CITIZENS** Comments from citizens on a 

listed agenda item will be taken when the item is addressed by the Council.  At this time 
individuals can speak on any topic not on the agenda for up to 5 minutes, time 
extensions at the discretion of the Mayor.  No action can be taken on items not listed 
except as a possible referral to committees, individuals or a future Council agenda item. 

 
8. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
*    A. Consider Ordinance No. 2018-14 amending Sec. 13-1-61(d) of the Zoning Code 

to allow hair salons as a conditional use in the M-3 Business Park District; and 
action thereon (Plan Comm. 08-06-18) 

  
9. NEW BUSINESS 
 
* A. Consider Resolution No. 2018-24 commending Cedarburg Overhead Door for 

Small Business of the Year award; and action thereon 
 
* B. Consider bids received for the 2018 asphalt pavement repair program; and action 

thereon 
 
* C. Consider extension of cash farm lease with Roden Echo Valley, LLC for 2019; 

and action thereon 
 
* D. Consider Mayor O’Keefe’s reappointment of Jim Coutts and Andy Moss to the 

Light and Water Commission (terms expire 09/30/21); and action thereon 
 

Page 1 of 35



* E. Consider payment of bills dated 09/04/18, transfers for the period 08/09/18 
through 08/20/18; and payroll for the period 08/12/18 through 08/25/18; and 
action thereon 

 
*** F. Consider License Applications; and action thereon 
    

 1. Consider approval of new Operator License applications for the period 
July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019 for:  Robert L. Parson and Benjamin 
M. Tushaus 

   
 2. Consider approval of renewal Operator License applications for the period 

July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019 for:  Candace A. Burger and Dale G. 
Mueller  

  
10.       REPORTS OF CITY OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADS 
 
* A. Administrator’s Report 
* B. Building Inspector’s Report – August 2018 
 
11. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
** A. Comments and suggestions from citizens 
 B. Comments and announcements by Council Members  

C. Mayor’s Report  
 
12. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Individual members of various boards, committees, or commissions may attend the above meeting.  It 
is possible that such attendance may constitute a meeting of a City board,  committee or commission 
pursuant to State ex. rel. Badke v. Greendale Village Board, 173 Wis. 2d 553, 494 NW 2d 408 (1993).  
This notice does not authorize attendance at either the above meeting or the Badke Meeting, but is 
given solely to comply with the notice requirements of the open meeting law. 
 
 
 
* Information attached for Council; available through City Clerk’s Office.   
** Citizen comments should be primarily one-way, from citizen to the Council.  Each citizen who wishes to 

speak   shall be accorded one opportunity at the beginning of the meeting and one opportunity at the end 
of the meeting.  Comments should be kept brief.  If the comment expressed concerns a matter of public 
policy, response from the Council will be limited to seeking information or acknowledging that the citizen 
has been understood.  It is out of order for anyone to debate with a citizen addressing the Council or for 
the Council to take action on a matter of public policy.  The Council may direct that the concern be placed 
on a future agenda.  Citizens will be asked to state their name and address for the record and to speak 
from the lectern for the purposes of recording their comments. 

*** Information available through the Clerk’s Office. 
 

UPON REASONABLE NOTICE, EFFORTS WILL BE MADE TO 
ACCOMMODATE THE NEEDS OF INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES. 
PLEASE CONTACT THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE AT (262) 375-7606 

E-MAIL:  cityhall@ci.cedarburg.wi.us 
 
 
09/06/18 ckm  
 

Page 2 of 35

mailto:cityhall@ci.cedarburg.wi.us


 CITY OF CEDARBURG     CC20180827-1 

                                                             COMMON COUNCIL UNAPPROVED 

AUGUST 27, 2018 

        

A regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, was held on 

Monday, August 27, 2018, at City Hall, W63 N645 Washington Avenue, second floor, Council 

Chambers.   Mayor O’Keefe called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

 

ROLL CALL: Present  -  Common Council:   Mayor Mike O’Keefe, Council Members  Jack 

Arnett,  Kristin Burkart, Rick Verhaalen, Garan Chivinski,  Patricia 

Thome 

 

 Excused - Council Members Dan von Bargen and Rod Galbraith 

 

                       Also Present - City Administrator/Treasurer Christy Mertes, City Clerk Constance 

McHugh, Director of Parks, Recreation and Forestry Mikko Hilvo, 

Planner Jon Censky, City Attorney Michael Herbrand, Police and Fire 

Commissioner Linda Krieg; interested citizens and news media 

 

STATEMENT OF PUBLIC NOTICE 

 

At Mayor O’Keefe’s request, City Clerk McHugh verified that notice of this meeting was provided 

to the public by forwarding the agenda to the City’s official newspaper, the News Graphic, to all 

news media and citizens who requested copies, and by posting in accordance with the Wisconsin 

Open Meetings law.  Citizens present were welcomed and encouraged to provide their input during 

the citizen comment portion of the meeting. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Burkart, to approve the 

minutes of the August 13, 2018 meeting.  Motion carried unanimously with Council Member von 

Bargen and Galbraith excused. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING:  CONSIDER ORDINANCE NO. 2018-13 TO REZONE THE PARCEL 

AT W68 N926-30 WASHINGTON AVENUE FROM B-2 COMMUNITY BUSINESS 

DISTRICT TO B-2/PUD COMMUNITY BUSINESS DISTRICT/PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, WHICH INCLUDES SITE, ARCHITECTURAL, 

LANDSCAPING, EXTERIOR LIGHTING AND CSM APPROVAL 

 

Mayor O’Keefe opened the public hearing on this matter at 7:02 p.m. 

 

Bell Investment Properties, LLC plans to erect a new orthodontic facility on the same site in the 

same location as the former building at W68 N926-30 Washington Avenue.  Planner Censky said to 

accomplish the proposed redevelopment project the applicant needs the use of the PUD Overlay 

District for the flexibility it offers in applying the regulations of the base B-2 District.  This 

flexibility is needed because the existing structure does not currently meet the setback requirements 

and therefore is classified as legal non-conforming.  Because this site has public road frontage on 

three of the four sides and the B-2 District setback requirements are substantial at 40 feet, 

redevelopment of the site is severely hindered, if not impossible.  Compounding this situation is the 

requirement that the applicant dedicate the full width right-of-way of Washington Avenue.  

Page 3 of 35



COMMON COUNCIL CC20180827-2 

AUGUST 27, 2018                                                                                                     UNAPPROVED 

 

Accordingly, the only way to accomplish the plan is to introduce the PUD Overlay District to allow 

the Plan Commission and Council to set regulations based on the plan proposed.  The modifications 

to the underlying district are as follows: 

 

Nonconformity to Standards: 

As permitted under the PUD Overlay District, the applicant is seeking approval to adjust the 

following standards of the underlying B-2 District: 

1. Code Requirement – Sec. 13-1-54 h. B-2 District. Setback and Yards. There shall be a 

minimum building setback of forty (40) feet from the right-of-way of all existing or 

planned streets. 
Nonconformity – The proposed setback from Washington Avenue is 39.1’ and from 

Cambridge Avenue the proposed setback is 15.4’ 

2. Code Requirement – Sec. 13-1-82(f) (3) Parking Requirements (Landscaping) States: A 

perimeter greenbelt of at least five (5) feet in width shall be installed along the street 

frontage and along all interior lot lines. 
Nonconformity – Parking is proposed at a point up to the Washington Avenue right-of-way 

line and from Cambridge Avenue at a point .5’ from the right-of-way line. From the north 

property line parking is proposed up to the property line (The existing asphalt is located up 

to this property line as well). 

3. Code Requirement – Sec.13-1-82 (c) Parking Stall Size States: Each parking space shall 

not be less than one hundred and eighty (180) square feet, exclusive of the space 

required for ingress and egress. 
 Nonconformity – 2 parking stalls measure 150 square feet. 

 

Site Plan: 

The applicant is proposing a 6,913 square foot building dedicated to the Orthodontic practice only. 

For the most part, the plan is to utilize the site, traffic pattern and parking layouts as currently exists 

but with a slightly expanded paved area to better define the parking stalls and traffic circulation. 

The site will be supported by 32 parking stalls, an increase from the existing 28 stalls. The site plan 

shows the continued use of the 10’ drive along the north side of the building but because this does 

not have sufficient width to meet two-way traffic requirements, it will need to be indicated as one-

way traffic only. To prevent cars from scraping the new building, staff recommends that a stone 

separation from the building of at least 1½ feet be provided. Off the northeast corner of the parking 

lot they propose to locate the 12’ x 16’7” dumpster. The dumpster will be constructed of CMU 

(concrete) walls that stand 6’ tall accessed from the west through a 6’ high chain link fence with 

privacy slates on heavy duty hinges.   

 

Architecture: 

Architecturally, the plans propose an attractive building defined by quality building material, and 

inviting design with a color scheme that compliments other buildings in the area. Specifically, the 

applicant proposes a building that stands 32’ tall at the peak with material consisting of attractive 

natural split stone with decorative EIFS crown molding at the top, aluminum clad windows and an 

expansive standing seam charcoal color metal roof. In the gable over the main entrance on the west 

elevation, the plan shows their corporate symbol and in the gable on the east elevation is the other 

corporate symbol and the identification name.  

 

 

 

Page 4 of 35



COMMON COUNCIL CC20180827-3 

AUGUST 27, 2018                                                                                                     UNAPPROVED 

 

Landscaping: 

According to the Landscape plan, the main entrance off Cedarburg Road and extending out from the 

base of the existing monument sign will be enhanced with the Plantings of Goldstrum Black-eyed 

Susan, Spirea and Dwarf Fountain grasses under a single Red Oak. This planting scheme is repeated 

on the north side of the entrance and along the Cambridge Avenue frontage adjacent to the parking 

lot as well. Foundational plantings include Miss Kim Lilacs at the southeast corner of the building 

accented by groupings of Sunrise Forsythia, Taunton Yew, Snowmound Spirea and Karl Foerster’s 

Feather Reed grass. 

 

Exterior Light: 

The building will be lit with decorative wall sconces that measure 22” high and 7” wide located on 

all sides. These will be Kirchler lights of either the Manhattan collection or the Camden Collection 

of either Anvil Iron or textured black color to complement the colors of the building. Either choice 

is appropriate for this building. The site lighting will be limited to replacing the existing pole lights 

with new poles at the same location and of the same height but with new light fixtures.  

 

Signage: 

The existing monument sign along Washington Avenue will remain in its current location and will 

be untouched. Staff notes however, that since the sign is located partially within the public right-of-

way, the applicant will need to sign an agreement permitting it to remain but with the understanding 

that if the City ever needs it relocated or removed, that work will be completed at the expense of the 

owner.  

 

Certified Survey Map: 

As part of this project, the applicant has submitted a Certified Survey Map which will serve to 

dedicate the 40’ ultimate road right-of-way along Washington Avenue because the existing property 

line is defined to the center of the street.  

 

The Plan Commission reviewed the request and unanimously recommended approval subject to the 

following stipulations: 

 

 Cedarburg Light and Water approval of the water service to building. 

 If the water use increases, the applicant will be responsible for paying for the increase. 

 The applicant shall be limited to land disturbance activity of less than 0.5 acres and if the 

disturbance exceeds that limit a storm water management plan shall be required and 

approved by the City Engineer. 

 Fire protection features shall be approved by the Cedarburg Fire Department.  

 The applicant signing a waiver to maintain the monument sign at his expense in its current 

location in the Washington Avenue right-of-way. 

 The north driveway to be set off from the building by 1’ to 1½’. 

 Extension of the public front sidewalk across the entire Washington Avenue frontage.  

 

Council Member Verhaalen asked if the requirement of a sidewalk on Washington Avenue will 

alter the plans.  Architect Ian Wilson of Nolan Carter said the applicant has agreed to include the 

sidewalk in the design. 

 

Page 5 of 35



COMMON COUNCIL CC20180827-4 

AUGUST 27, 2018                                                                                                     UNAPPROVED 

 

Council Member Thome asked if the two smaller parking stalls could be labeled as compact.  

Planner Censky said they could be marked that way. 

 

Council Member Burkart said there have been a few recent requests for PUD Overlays and asked 

why the B-2 zoning district is so restrictive.  Planner Censky said the B-2 District is typically 

applied to new businesses and does not reflect businesses located in the historic district.  There is 

not enough room on the site to meet the requirements of the Code so flexibility is necessary.  This is 

the intent of the PUD Overlay District. 

 

Council Member Burkart asked if the parking will come up to the right-of-way on Washington 

Avenue and Cambridge Avenue.  Planner Censky said there will be green space between the 

parking area and the sidewalk and between the sidewalk and the road. 

 

Mayor O’Keefe asked if the sidewalk on Washington Avenue will be problematic in terms of 

stormwater management.  Mr. Wilson said the plans were redesigned after the Plan Commission 

meeting and after meeting with Director Wiza to include the sidewalk.  One problem involves a 

catch basin and stormwater management infrastructure that is located where the sidewalk will go.  

There are limitations as to how far north the sidewalk can go.  It must stop where the driveways are.     

 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Arnett, to close the public 

hearing at 7:13 p.m.  Motion carried unanimously with Council Members von Bargen and Galbraith 

excused. 

 

Motion made by Council Member Burkart, seconded by Council Member Thome, to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2018-13 rezoning the parcel at W68 N926-30 Washington Avenue from B-2 

Community Business District to B-2/PUD Community Business District/Planned Unit Development 

District, which includes site, architectural, landscaping, exterior lighting and CSM approval, subject 

to conditions imposed by the Plan Commission listed above.   

 

Council Member Arnett questioned the sidewalk requirement when the sidewalk does not connect 

to anything.  He suggested it be delayed until a future time. 

 

Mr. Wilson said that while the sidewalk has already been included in the redesigned plans, there 

would be reduced construction costs if it were not required.  Planner Censky said it could be 

deferred and the applicant could be specially assessed if it is determined it is needed in the future. 

 

Council Member Arnett offered an amendment to the motion to defer construction of the sidewalk 

on Washington Avenue indefinitely.  The amendment was seconded by Council Member 

Verhaalen. The motion to amend the motion carried unanimously with Council Members von 

Bargen and Galbraith excused. 

 

With Council Members Arnett, Burkart, Verhaalen, Chivinski, and Thome voting aye and Council 

Members von Bargen and Galbraith excused, the original motion as amended carried unanimously. 

 

 

 

 

Page 6 of 35



COMMON COUNCIL CC20180827-5 

AUGUST 27, 2018                                                                                                     UNAPPROVED 

 

CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 2018-23 COMMENDING CARLSON TOOL AND 

MANUFACTURING FOR 60 YEARS OF SERVICE IN THE COMMUNITY 

 

Council Member Thome said the resolution honoring Carlson Tool and Manufacturing is certainly 

well deserved.  She said Carl Edquist is her mentor and one of her favorite people.  She thanked the 

Edquist family and employees. 

 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Arnett, to adopt 

Resolution No. 2018-23 commending Carlson Tool and Manufacturing for 60  years of service in 

the community.  Motion carried unanimously with Council Members von Bargen and Galbraith 

excused. 

 

CONSIDER IMPLEMENTATION OF A COMMUNITY TREE PLANTING PROGRAM 

 

Director Hilvo said the Forestry Department is behind in tree planting.  He often receives calls from 

residents asking when a new tree will be planted after one is removed.  His answer is that it can take 

up to 3-4 years to get a replacement tree.  Residents will then ask if they can get a new tree if they 

pay for one.   

 

In addition, the directive from the Common Council is to have a zero percent increase in the budget.  

To do this Director Hilvo proposes moving $16,000 from the tree planting account to the contracted 

services account in order to keep up with tree and stump removals.  He is proposing a community 

tree planting program that would allow residents to pay $300 to cover the costs of a new tree that 

would be planted by an outside contractor and overseen by the City Forester.  He said this will be a 

way for residents to get a new tree, keep costs down for the City, and allow funds to be transferred 

for tree and stump removal to help catch up on the backlog. 

 

Council Member Thome asked if transferring the funds from the tree planting account to the 

contracted services account would be permanent.  Director Hilvo said this would be done for a few 

years so that work on tree and stump removal can get caught up. 

 

Council Member Thome said she appreciates Director Hilvo’s creativity; however, she cautioned 

using fund raising instead of tax dollars for things typically paid for through taxes. 

 

Council Member Verhaalen said he disagrees this would be fundraising.  He said the backlog of tree 

and stump removals is an unfortunate event because of the Emerald Ash Borer.  He said someone 

paying for a tree would not be a tax because the homeowner still has a choice. 

 

Council Member Burkart asked Director Hilvo if he believes the Forestry Department will be 

caught up in terms of tree and stump removal in two years.  Director Hilvo said he thinks the 

Department will be caught up. 

 

Council Member Arnett said he thinks this program is a great idea.  It would be optional for the 

homeowner.  He asked if homeowners can contract for this service on their own.  Director Hilvo 

said the City Code allows for a resident to obtain a permit to plant a tree in the right-of-way, but the 

work must be done by a licensed arborist.  This may or may not be less expensive for residents and 

could create other problems. 

 

Page 7 of 35



COMMON COUNCIL CC20180827-6 

AUGUST 27, 2018                                                                                                     UNAPPROVED 

 

Council Member Arnett said the City has an undesignated fund balance.  He encouraged the 

Council to discuss using funds from the fund balance for tree planting. 

 

Council Member Burkart said she appreciates the creativity of Director Hilvo, but this program 

could push people who cannot afford a tree to the end of the line.  Council Member Thome said the 

program could put off the planting of a tree for the foreseeable future of anyone who cannot afford 

one.  Council Members Verhaalen and Arnett disagreed and said the program could decrease the 

waiting time for a new tree. 

 

Council Member Chivinski suggested there be a hybrid solution to the problem that would put the 

community tree planting program in place and use a portion of fund balance for tree planting for 

other residents so the entire tree planting program does not come to a stop. 

 

Council Member Thome said she is generally supportive of the community tree planting program 

but would like to address it as part of the discussions regarding the budget. 

 

Council Member Burkart said she has a problem with a program that places priority for those who 

can pay versus those who cannot. 

 

Council Member Verhaalen made a motion to approve the community tree planting program as 

proposed by Director Hilvo whereby residents can pay $300 to have a tree planted by a contractor 

based on a recommendation by the City Forester and overseen by the City Forester.  The motion 

was seconded by Council Member Arnett.  Motion carried with Council Members Arnett, 

Verhaalen, Chivinski, and Thome voting aye, Council Member Burkart voting nay, and Council 

Members von Bargen and Galbraith excused. 

 

Council Member Arnett again encouraged the Council to consider using funds from the fund 

balance for tree planting. 

 

PAYMENT OF BILLS 

 

Motion made by Council Member Arnett, seconded by Council Member Thome, to approve the 

payment of the bills dated August 20, 2018, transfers for the period 08/09/18 through 08/20/18, and 

payroll for the period 07/29/18 through 08/11/18.  Motion carried unanimously with Council 

Members von Bargen and Galbraith excused. 

 

LICENSE APPLICATIONS 

 

Motion made by Council Member Burkart, seconded by Council Member Thome, to authorize the 

issuance of  new Operators licenses for the period ending June 30, 2019 to Benjamin D. Voith and 

Gina R. Wildner.  Motion carried unanimously with Council Members von Bargen and Galbraith 

excused. 

 

Motion made by Council Member Verhaalen, seconded by Council Member Arnett, to authorize 

issuance of renewal operators licenses for the period ending June 30, 2019 to Joshua P. 

McCutcheon and Scott W. Steffen.  Motion carried unanimously with Council Members von 

Bargen and Galbraith excused. 

 

Page 8 of 35



COMMON COUNCIL CC20180827-7 

AUGUST 27, 2018                                                                                                     UNAPPROVED 

 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 

 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes said Amy Mazza will begin employment in the Treasurer’s 

Office as Accountant II/Accounts Payable on August 28. 

 

COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS BY COUNCIL MEMBERS 

 

Council Member Thome reminded the Council of the Greater Cedarburg Foundation Gala on 

September 22, 2018. 

 

Council Member Arnett congratulated the City Clerk’s Office on another successful election. 

 

Council Member Chivinski congratulated City Admnistrator/Treasurer Mertes on receiving the 

GFOA Distinguished Budget Presentation award. 

 

ADJOURNMENT – CLOSED SESSION 

 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Verhaalen, to adjourn to 

closed session at 7:53 p.m. pursuant to State Statutes 19.85(1)(g) to confer with legal counsel who is 

rendering oral or written advice concerning strategy to be adopted by the Council with respect to 

litigation in which it is or is likely to become involved, more specifically, to discuss the Rachel 

LePlant claim against the City for a vehicle accident that occurred on February 14, 2018 and State 

Statutes 19.85(1)(e) to deliberate or negotiate the purchasing of public properties, the investing of 

public funds, or conducting other specified public business whenever competitive or bargaining 

reasons require a closed session, more specifically, to consider cellular tower leases for location on 

the monopole constructed on Western Avenue and to consider the purchase of a parcel of land and 

Access and Permanent Utility Easement Agreement related to a portion of N69 N5269 Columbia 

Road.    Approval of August 13, 2018 closed session minutes.  Motion carried on a roll call vote 

with Council Members Arnett, Burkart, Verhaalen, Chivinski, and Thome voting aye and Council 

Members von Bargen and Galbraith excused. 

 

RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION 

 

Motion made by Council Member Verhaalen, seconded by Council Member Thome, to reconvene 

to open session at 8:12 p.m.  Motion carried on a roll call vote with Council Members Arnett, 

Burkart, Verhaalen, Chivinski, and Thome voting aye and Council Members von Bargen and 

Galbraith excused. 

 

CONSIDER CELLULAR TOWER LEASES FOR LOCATION ON THE MONOPOLE 

CONSTRUCTED ON WESTERN AVENUE 

 

Motion made by Council Member Arnett, seconded by Council Member Thome, to postpone this 

item.   Motion carried unanimously with Council Members von Bargen and Galbraith excused. 

 

 

 

 

Page 9 of 35



COMMON COUNCIL CC20180827-8 

AUGUST 27, 2018                                                                                                     UNAPPROVED 

 

CONSIDER PURCHASE AGREEMENT AND ACCESS AND PERMANENT UTILITY 

EASEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN BMO AND THE CITY FOR A PARCEL OF 

LAND THAT IS A PORTION OF N69 W5269 COLUMBIA ROAD 

 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Verhaalen, to approve the 

amended purchase agreement and Access and Permanent Utility Easement agreement between 

BMO and the City for a parcel of land that is a portion of N69 W5269 Columbia Road.  Motion 

carried unanimously with Council Members von Bargen and Galbraith excused. 

 

CONSIDER AUTHORIZING THE CITY ADMINISTRATOR/TREASURER TO SIGN ALL 

DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE PURCHASE OF A PARCEL OF LAND THAT IS A 

PORTION OF N69 W5269 COLUMBIA ROAD 

 

Motion made by Council Member Verhaalen, seconded by Council Member Thome, to authorize 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes to sign all documents related to the purchase of a parcel of 

land that is a portion of N69 W5269 Columbia Road.  Motion carried unanimously with Council 

Members von Bargen and Galbraith excused. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

       

Motion made by Council Member Arnett, seconded by Council Member Burkart, to adjourn the 

meeting at 8:15 p.m.  Motion carried unanimously with Council Members von Bargen and 

Galbraith excused. 

 

       Constance K. McHugh, MMC/WCPC 

       City Clerk 

Page 10 of 35



 
 CITY OF CEDARBURG 

MEETING DATE: September 10, 2018                                                              ITEM NO: 8. A. 
 
TITLE:   Consider Ordinance No. 2018-14 amending Sec. 13-1-61(d) of the Zoning Code to allow 
hair salons as a conditional use in the M-3 Business Park District; and action thereon (Plan Comm. 
08-06-18) 
 

ISSUE SUMMARY:  The applicant is requesting this zoning text amendment to add “Hair Salons” to 

the list of uses in the M-3 Business Park District to establish an approval process for her to operate 

her hair salon business from within the building at N19 W6733 Commerce Court. The applicant 

advises that she has been given notice by her landlord that the building where she currently 

operates will be closing and therefore she is searching for a new location to establish her business. 

When she approached the owner of the Commerce Court building, she was encouraged to pursue 

City approval; however, when she contacted City Staff, she was informed that hair salons are not 

permitted in the M-3 Business Park District without a Code amendment to list them.  

 

Staff notes that this district currently allows such uses as indoor athletic facilities, day care facilities 

medical clinics and veterinary hospitals as conditional uses all of which seem to have similar 

characteristic and/or impacts of a hair salon. Accordingly, in their discussion the Plan Commission 

felt that hair salons were similar in character and offered a service that could benefit other uses in 

the business park.  
 

BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: At their August 6, 2018 meeting, 

the Plan Commission recommended that hair salons be listed as a conditional use in the M-3 

Business Park District by unanimous vote. 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT:  N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Ordinance No. 2018-14 
 Plan Commission Minutes from the August 6, 2018 Meeting. 

 
INITIATED/REQUESTED BY:  Isaac and Rachelle Covert 
 
FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: Jonathan P. Censky, City Planner, 262-375-7610 
 

 

Page 11 of 35



ORDINANCE NO. 2018-14 

 

An Ordinance Amending 

Sec. 13-1-61 of the Zoning Code 

Pertaining to Conditional Uses in the M-3 

Business Park District 

 

 

The Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, hereby ordains as follows: 

 

 SECTION 1.  Section 13-1-61(d) of the Municipal Code of the City of Cedarburg is 

hereby amended as follows: 

 

SEC. 13-1-61   M-3 BUSINESS PARK DISTRICT.   
 

(d) Conditional Uses.  The following uses may be permitted only if approved by the Plan 

Commission in accordance with the provisions of Section 13-1-226, which contains 

standards to guide the Plan Commission in determining whether or not to grant approval 

of such uses: 

 (7) Hair Salons 

 

SECTION 2.  This ordinance shall take effect upon its passage and publication as 

provided by law. 

 

 Passed and adopted this 10
th
 day of September, 2018. 

 

 

                                                     ________________________________ 

                                                     Michael O’Keefe, Mayor    

 

 

Countersigned:    

 

______________________________ 

Constance K. McHugh, City Clerk 

 

Approved as to form:  

 

_________________________________ 

Michael P. Herbrand, City Attorney  

 

 

 

Page 12 of 35



PLAN COMMISSION PLN20180806-4 
August 6, 2018 UNAPPROVED MINUTES 
 
 
Action: 
A motion was made by Commissioner Zimmerschied to approve the proposed site plan 
amendments as proposed. The motion was seconded by Mayor O’Keefe and carried 
without a negative vote, with Council Member Thome, Vice Chairperson Burgoyne and 
Commissioner Cain excused. 
 
CONSIDER REQUEST TO AMEND THE M-3 BUSINESS PARK DISTRICT TEXT TO 
ADD “HAIR SALONS” AS A PERMITTED USE – ISAAC AND RACHELLE COVERT 
 
Planner Censky reported that Isaac and Rachelle Covert are requesting a zoning text 
amendment to add “Hair Salons” to the list of uses in the M-3 Business Park District to 
establish an approval process to operate her salon business from within the building at 
N19 W6733 Commerce Court. It is staff’s  understanding that Mrs. Covert has recently 
been given notice by her landlord that the doors of her current building will be closing 
and she is searching for a new location to establish her business. The owners of the 
Commerce Court building encouraged her to pursue City approval, but since the use is 
not listed in the M-3 District, it is not permitted. Mrs. Covert is now requesting to list the 
use in the District. 
 
Planner Censky noted that the M-3 District currently allows such uses as indoor athletic 
facilities, day care facilities, medical clinics and veterinary hospitals as conditional uses; 
which seem to have similar characteristics and/or impacts of hair salons. If 
Commissioners feel comfortable with the hair salon use, it is recommended that it be 
listed as a Conditional Use to ensure that conditions can be applied to the operation as 
necessary. 
 
The Commissioners discussed the merits to having nearby services such as day care, 
fitness facilities, and such close to places of work. 
 
Commissioner Zimmerschied advised that new State laws have been adopted that 
restrict a community’s ability to deny a Conditional Use Permit request. Planner Censky 
advised that Cedarburg has never abused the use of Conditional Use Permits and has 
had conversations with the City Attorney on the new law. 
 
Commissioner Strautmanis expressed some concern of diverting retail from the City’s 
commercial districts but was comfortable with this use. 
 
Action: 
Commissioner Strautmanis moved to recommend the Common Council amend the M-3 
Business Park District text to allow “Hair Salons” as a permitted conditional  use. The 
motion was seconded by Mayor O’Keefe. The motion carried without a negative vote, 
with Council Member Thome, Vice Chairperson Burgoyne and Commissioner Cain 
excused. 
 
CONSIDER RECOMMENDING REZONING W68 N926-30 WASHINGTON AVENUE 
FROM THE B-2 DISTRICT TO THE B-2/PUD DISTRICT AND SITE, 

Page 13 of 35



CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2018-24   
 

A Resolution for Cedarburg Overhead Door 
2018 Small Business of the Year 

 
 WHEREAS, Cedarburg Overhead Door, having been founded in 1984, when Jerry 
Herbst purchased the company with a partner as an investment.  In 1996 he became the sole 
proprietor.  In 2004, Jerry retired from the police department to focus and grow his business, he 
currently has seven employees and is celebrating 34 years of providing sales and service in 
garage doors throughout Ozaukee County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Cedarburg Overhead Door has seen significant business and job growth 
over the past five years and is a strong community partner; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Cedarburg Overhead Door, since its inception, has been serving its 
customers with integrity and exceptional service; and 
 
 WHEREAS, this commitment to customers has extended to a commitment to 
community, with Cedarburg Overhead Door investing in the City of Cedarburg and Ozaukee 
County by financially supporting and providing services to the Cedarburg Scholarship Fund, 
Cedarburg Summer Sounds, Mel’s Charities, Cedarburg Sporting Teams, Cedarburg Fire 
Department, Family Sharing, the Jonathan Clark House, and Habitat for Humanity; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Cedarburg hereby recognizes the important presence of 
Cedarburg Overhead Door in our community for providing great products and services to their 
customers.   
 
 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that Mayor O’Keefe and the Common 
Council of the City of Cedarburg congratulate Cedarburg Overhead Door for being awarded the 
2018 Small Business of the Year by Ozaukee Economic Development. 
 
 Dated this 10th day of September 2018. 
 
       
 
       ___________________________________ 

      Michael O’Keefe, Mayor 
 
 

Attest: 
 
 

__________________________________ 
Constance K. McHugh, City Clerk 

Page 14 of 35



 CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

MEETING DATE: September 10, 2018                                                   ITEM NO:  9. B. 

 

 

TITLE: Consider bids received for the 2018 asphalt pavement repair program; and action thereon. 

 

    

 

ISSUE SUMMARY: Staff advertised for and received bids for the 2018 asphalt repair program. This years’ 

program includes asphalt repair work on Evergreen Boulevard north of Bridge Road, on Portland Road east of 

the railroad tracks, and the Fire Department parking lot. 

 

Only two bids were received for the work. The lowest responsive bid was submitted by Parking Lot 

Maintenance, Inc. in the total amount of $137,527.50.   

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends awarding the 2018 asphalt pavement repair contract to 

Parking Lot Maintenance, Inc. on the basis of their low unit price bid of $137,527.50.   

 

 

BOARD, COMMISSION, OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: The schedule did not allow review 

by the Public Works Commission as their next meeting is September 13
th

.  

 

 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT: $45,000 was budgeted for asphalt repairs and $100,000 was budgeted for the Fire 

Department parking lot.   

                                                                                          

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: Spreadsheet of the bid results  

 

 

 

INITIATED/REQUESTED BY: Tom Wiza/Mike Wieser 

 

 

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT:  

  Tom Wiza-Director of Engineering and Public Works 262-375-7610 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 15 of 35



Page 16 of 35



 CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

MEETING DATE: September 10, 2018                                                             ITEM NO:  9. C. 

                           

 

TITLE: Consider extension of cash farm lease with Roden Echo Valley, LLC for 2019; and action thereon. 

           

 

ISSUE SUMMARY: The City of Cedarburg has had an annual Cash Farm Lease with Robert Roden for 47 

acres at 6603 Highway 60 (former Kohlwey Farm) which dates back to 1999.  While the land is eventually 

intended to be used for business park development, the required design, permitting, and utility extensions make 

2019 construction unlikely. 

 

As for the rental fee; other farmland in the Town of Cedarburg ranges from $65 to $75 per acre. The rent in 

2018 is $70 per acre. For 2019, Mr. Roden has agreed to increase the rent to $75 per acre. It should be noted 

that Mr. Roden has been an exceptional renter who rotates his crops, controls weeds, and does not track mud on 

Highway 60.   

 

Note:  Staff will have additional language for possible early termination. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Extend the Cash Farm Lease with Roden Echo Valley, LLC with the rental 

fee increased to $75 per acre. 

 

 

 

BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: N/A 

 

 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT: 2019 rent would be $3,525 to Capital Fund. 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 2019 Lease Agreement 

 

 

 

INITIATED/REQUESTED BY: Tom Wiza, Director of Engineering and Public Works 

                                                         

 

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: 

Tom Wiza, Director of Engineering and Public Works 

262-375-7610  
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 17 of 35



CASH FARM LEASE 
 

 

 

This lease (“Lease”) is entered into this ________ day of _____________, 2018, 

between: 

 

 

LANDLORD:   City of Cedarburg, W63 N645 Washington Avenue, P.O. Box 49, 

Cedarburg, Wisconsin, 53012,  (262) 375-7610, hereafter known 

as “Landlord”; and 

 

TENANT:  Roden Echo Valley, LLC 

                                    5545 County Highway Y 

                                    West Bend, Wisconsin 53095  

(262) 675-6709, hereafter known as “Tenant” 

 

 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION.  The Landlord hereby leases to the Tenant, to occupy 

and use for agricultural and related purposes, the following described property: cropland 

located at 6603 Highway 60, Cedarburg, Wisconsin, Ozaukee County, consisting of 47 

acres (hereinafter “Property”). 

 

LAND USE.  The tenant agrees to plant during the term of this lease a row crop on the 

Property.  At the end of each growing season, the cropland shall be properly tilled by the 

Tenant unless otherwise directed by the Landlord.  The Tenant shall not sell any crops or 

materials, such as a roadside stand, from the Property. 

 

TIME PERIOD COVERED BY THIS LEASE:  This lease shall commence on April 1, 

2019 and shall terminate on October 31, 2019 unless extended by mutual agreement of 

Landlord and Tenant in writing. 

 

AMOUNT AND PAYMENT OF RENT.  Rent will be $75.00 per acre for the 47 acres 

of cropland for a total of $3,525.00 per year.  The fee schedule for payment of the amount 

shall be as follows:  For each year this lease is in effect, a payment of $1,762.50 must be 

made on or before June 1, with a final payment of $1,762.50 on or before December 31. 

Rent payments will be received at the City of Cedarburg Treasurer’s Office, W63 N645 

Washington Avenue, P.O. Box 49, Cedarburg, Wisconsin, 53012-0049.  If rent is not 

paid when due, the Tenant agrees to pay interest on the amount of unpaid rent at the rate 

of 1.5% per month from the due date until paid. 

 

AMENDMENTS AND ALTERATIONS:  Amendments and alterations to this lease 

shall be in writing and shall be signed by both the Landlord and Tenant. 

 

RIGHT OF ENTRY:  The Tenant shall permit the Landlord or agents of the City of 

Cedarburg to enter any portion of the Property at any reasonable time.  Should entry by 

Page 18 of 35



the Landlord or an agent of the City of Cedarburg cause damage to the tenant’s crops, a 

determination of the value of the crops damaged shall be made by the Ozaukee County 

Agricultural Agent.   

 

NO RIGHT TO SUBLEASE.  The Landlord does not convey to the tenant the right to 

lease or sublease any part of the Property to any person or persons or entity of any kind. 

 

TRACKING.  Tracking will not be allowed onto Highway 60.  Tenant shall be 

responsible for any dirt, ground or debris that it tracked onto the highway. 

 

WEED CONTROL.  Tenant shall use diligence to prevent noxious weeds from going to 

seed and shall be responsible for the treatment of any noxious weed infestation on the 47 

acres of cropland.  The Landlord will be responsible for weed control on the remaining 

acreage on this property. 

 

CONSERVATION.  Tenant shall keep in good repair all terraces, open ditches, inlets 

and outlets of tile drains, and ponds; preserve all established watercourses or ditches 

including grassed waterways and field borders; and refrain from any operation or practice 

that will injure such structures. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES.  Tenant shall conduct all operations on the property in a 

manner consistent with all applicable local, state, and federal environmental codes, 

regulations, and statutes and shall bear sole responsibility for any violations thereof.  

Tenant shall be solely responsible for securing any permits or approvals necessary for his 

activities on the property.  In the event of any legally-prohibited release of materials to 

the environment, Tenant will indemnify the Landlord for any costs of environmental 

cleanup and restoration as well as any penalties, fines, judgments or other amounts 

incurred by Landlord as a result of such release. 

 

INSURANCE.  Tenant will agree to hold the Landlord harmless from and indemnify the 

Landlord for any and all liability of any kind, including reasonable attorney’s fees, 

associated with tenant’s farming activities, use of the Property pursuant to this Lease, or 

breach of any of the terms and conditions set forth in this Lease.  Additionally, Tenant 

shall name the City of Cedarburg as an additional insured in his general liability policy 

and provide the City of Cedarburg a Certificate of Insurance of same each year of the 

Lease term. 

 

FINANCIAL INTEREST.  The Landlord will have no financial interest in the crops 

grown on this property and the Landlord is not a member of the operator’s farming 

operation.  Furthermore, the Landlord is not entitled to any government subsidized 

payments made to the Tenant. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19 of 35



 

 

Whereas this lease agreement has been read and agreed upon by both the Landlord and 

Tenant, signatures are required to execute this lease. 

 

 

 

Michael J. O’Keefe, Mayor, City of Cedarburg                                                                    

Date 

 

 

 

Constance K. McHugh, City Clerk, City of Cedarburg                                           Date 

 

 

 

 

Tenant, Roden Echo Valley, LLC    By: Robert Roden, Member                       Date 

 

 

________________________________________________________________________

Tenant, Roden Echo Valley, LLC    By: Richard Roden, Member                          Date                                             

 

 

Page 20 of 35



Page 21 of 35



Page 22 of 35



Page 23 of 35



Page 24 of 35



Page 25 of 35



Page 26 of 35



Page 27 of 35



Page 28 of 35



Page 29 of 35



Page 30 of 35



Page 31 of 35



Page 32 of 35



Page 33 of 35



Page 34 of 35



Page 35 of 35


	Agenda 09-10-18
	CC Minutes 08-27-18
	Blue Sheet - M-3 Text Amendment
	Ord 2018-14 - M-3 Text Amendment
	Plan Comm Min 08-06-18
	Res 2018-24 - Cedarburg Overhead Door
	Blue Sheet - Asphalt Paving Bids
	Asphalt Pavement Bids
	Blue Sheet - Cash Farm Lease 2019
	Cash farm lease 2019
	Bills
	CA Report 09 06 18
	Building Inspectors Report August 2018



